1990

Leanna Broadwater v. Old Republic Surety,  
Northwestern National Insurance Company of  
Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Atlas Stock Transfer, Check  
Rite International Inc, Cardinal Energy  
Corporation, Scott J. Fletcher : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT AND CASE HISTORY**

Jurisdiction lies with this court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (Supp. 1991). Defendants bring this appeal from the June 6, 1990 order by the Third Judicial District of Salt Lake County, the Honorable Raymond S. Uno presiding, granting partial summary judgment in favor of plaintiff, Leanna Broadwater, and denying defendants Old Republic Surety, Northwestern National Insurance Company, Atlas Stock Transfer, and Check Rite International, Inc.'s motion for partial summary judgment. Defendants also bring this appeal from the September 17, 1990 order awarding attorney's fees to plaintiff. Both orders were certified as final orders, pursuant to Rule 54(b), U.R.C.P., on October 19, 1990.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Did the trial court err in granting plaintiff's motion and denying defendants' motion for partial summary judgment on Counts I and II of plaintiff's amended complaint?

#### **Standard of Review**

In considering an appeal from a grant of summary judgment, this Court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below. In determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below, this Court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law, which are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross and Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

2. Did the trial court err in holding as a matter of law that plaintiff's damages, if any, under Counts I and II of her amended complaint should be determined as of August 4, 1988?

#### **Standard of Review**

Since summary judgment is granted as a matter of law rather than fact, this Court is free to reappraise the trial court's legal conclusions. Barber v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 751 P.2d 748 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

3. Did the trial court err in awarding plaintiff her attorney's fees, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 (Supp. 1991), on Counts I and II of her amended complaint?

### Standard of Review

Since a summary judgment is granted as a matter of law rather than fact, this Court is free to reappraise the trial court's legal conclusion. Barber v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 751 P.2d 748 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In order to award attorney's fees under § 78-27-56, the court must determine that "the action or defense to the action was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith . . . ." Id. The determination of "without merit" is a question of law, and therefore this Court reviews it for correctness. Jeschke v. Willis, 811 P.2d 202, 203-04 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). The determination of "lack of good faith" is synonymous with the finding of "bad faith." A finding of bad faith is a question of fact and is reviewed by this Court under the clearly erroneous standard. Id. at 204.

### DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES

Rule 56(c) and (e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 (Supp. 1991) are the determinative authorities on appeal. The texts of Rule 56(c) and (e), U.R.C.P., and Utah Code Ann § 78-27-56 (Supp. 1991), are set forth in their entirety, infra.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-respondent Leanna Broadwater claims to be a bona fide purchaser of 8,000 shares of stock in Cardinal Energy Corp. ("Cardinal"), now known as Check Rite International, Inc. ("Check Rite") (R. 311) Sometime prior to May 4, 1988, plaintiff

presented those 8,000 shares of Cardinal stock, reflected by Certificate No. 258, to defendant Atlas Stock Transfer Company ("Atlas") and requested that said shares be transferred into her name in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 70A-8-306 (1953). (Id.) This appeal arise out of the alleged wrongful refusal of Atlas and Check Rite to transfer the subject shares into plaintiff's name.

The 8,000 shares of stock in dispute were originally purchased on or about August 23, 1982, by defendant Scott J. Fletcher ("Fletcher"). (R. 71) During the period of time Fletcher owned the stock, he informed Atlas, the stock transfer agent of Cardinal, that Certificate No. 258 had been lost or stolen. (R. 72) In order to obtain a replacement certificate, Fletcher was required to obtain a lost instruments bond in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 70A-8-405(2)(b) (1953). Fletcher eventually obtained a lost instruments bond on November 23, 1982 from Northwestern National Insurance Company, the predecessor in interest of Old Republic Surety Company ("Old Republic"). (R. 73, 107) After tendering the lost instruments bond to Atlas, Atlas issued Fletcher a new certificate, Certificate No. 676, representing 8,000 shares of Cardinal stock. (Id.) Subsequently, Atlas placed a stop transfer order on Certificate No. 258. (R. 77)

Apparently unknown to Fletcher, plaintiff on or before May 4, 1988, presented the previously lost Certificate No. 258 to Atlas for transfer. (R. 77, 311) Due to the existence of the stop transfer order on Certificate No. 258, Atlas refused to transfer

and register the subject shares in accordance with plaintiff's instructions. (R. 77, 111) Plaintiff was promptly notified of Atlas' refusal to transfer her stock by a letter of May 4, 1988 from Atlas. (R. 77, 111)

At the time Atlas refused to transfer Certificate No. 258, May 4, 1988, there was no trading of Check Rite stock on which to base a fair market price for such stock. (R. 324-26) However, over the course of the next several months, the trading price of Check Rite stock fluctuated widely:

<u>Date</u>	<u>Trading Price</u>
May 1-7, 1988	*
May 8-14, 1988	*
May 15-21, 1988	*
May 22-28, 1988	*
May 29 - June 4, 1988	*
June 5-11, 1988	0.25
June 12-18, 1988	0.41
June 19-25, 1988	0.30
June 26 - July 2, 1988	0.40
July 3-9, 1988	0.38
July 10-16, 1988	0.40
July 17-23, 1988	0.65

July 24-30, 1988

1.25<sup>1</sup>

\*Signifies no trading during this time period.

(R. 312, 324-26)

Following receipt of Atlas' correspondence of May 4, 1988, refusing plaintiff's requested transfer, plaintiff contacted Old Republic. (R. 77) Old Republic received first notice of a potential claim under its lost instruments bond on or about May 20, 1988. (R. 519) Plaintiff, by means of affidavit, asserted that from May, 1988 until the filing of her suit on April 28, 1989, plaintiff was "mistreated, misled, and 'lulled' by certain of the defendants," specifically Old Republic. (R. 389-92, 413-16) Defendants denied any such wrongful conduct and submitted the affidavit of Paul S. Guardalabene to contradict and refute plaintiff's factual claims. (R. 518-24)

Following defendants' continued refusal to transfer and register the subject shares in accordance with plaintiff's instructions, plaintiff brought suit on April 28, 1989. (R. 2) Plaintiff's amended complaint seeks damages in excess of \$250,000 against the various defendants for alleged statutory wrongful refusal to transfer, conversion, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of third-party beneficiary contract, bad faith, aiding and abetting, negligence, violation of § 12(2) of the 1933 Federal Securities Act, violation of § 61-1-22(1)(b) of

---

<sup>1</sup>Plaintiff also submitted a conflicting affidavit claiming a trading price of 1 5/16 as of July 28, 1988. (R. 388)

the Utah Uniform Securities Act, fraud, and violation of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"). (R. 98-100) Plaintiff's amended complaint also seeks attorney's fees under Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 (Supp. 1991). (R. 98)

Following brief discovery, the parties filed cross motions for partial summary judgment on Counts I and II of plaintiff's amended complaint for conversion and wrongful refusal to transfer of the subject stock. (R. 310-24, 352-78) For purposes of the cross motions for partial summary judgment, the parties assumed arguendo that Atlas and Check Rite's actions were wrongful and constituted a "conversion" of plaintiff's stock. The parties' principal dispute, therefore, was over the proper time for calculating plaintiff's damages. (R. 313) In conjunction with defendants' motion for partial summary judgment, defendants also moved to strike various affidavits submitted by plaintiff in support of her cross-motion for summary judgment. (R. 426-31, 609-12) Plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment also included a prayer for an unspecified award of attorney's fees. (R. 372)

Oral argument on the motions was heard before The Honorable Raymond S. Uno on May 1, 1990. On June 6, 1990, The Honorable Raymond S. Uno, District Judge, entered an order granting partial summary judgment in favor of plaintiff and against defendants, finding that plaintiff's damages should be determined as of ninety days after the conversion, when the Check Rite stock reached its highest value after the conversion. (R. 710-12) The lower court

also denied defendants' motion to strike the affidavits submitted by plaintiff in support of her motion. (Id.) The trial court also initially took the matter of plaintiff's request for attorney fees under advisement. (R. 647, 710-12) Subsequently, on September 6, the trial court entered judgment awarding plaintiff attorney's fees in the amount of one-third of the principal judgment under Counts I and II of her amended complaint. (R. 818-19) On October 19, 1991, the trial court directed that the judgments and orders entered on July 6, 1990 and September 27, 1990, be certified as final and appealable under Rule 54(b), U.R.C.P. (R. 842-45) Defendants now bring this appeal from the above-mentioned judgments and orders.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order for a court to grant plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment, plaintiff has to establish by competent evidence that there were no genuine issues of material fact with respect to each and every element of plaintiff's cause of action for conversion and wrongful refusal to transfer stock. The principal dispute between the parties in this case was over the proper time for calculating plaintiff's damages for conversion and wrongful refusal to transfer stock. Therefore, plaintiff has the burden of establishing that there were no genuine issues of material fact with respect to calculating plaintiff's damages within the 90-day period of May 4, 1988, when the conversion occurred, and August 4, 1988, the date at which the trial court fixed the damages.

Utah adheres to the "New York rule" which provides that damages for the conversion of goods which fluctuate in value are fixed at the highest market price the converted goods reach at any time between the time the injured party has notice of the conversion and a "reasonable time" thereafter. Although courts have not uniformly applied the "New York rule", the overwhelming majority of courts have held that a period of thirty days or less constitutes a "reasonable time", as a matter of law, in which to fix damages for the conversion of stock certificates.

The trial court, in finding ninety days to be a "reasonable time" for fixing damages in this case relied on disputed and immaterial facts related to the alleged acts or omissions of Old Republic. By relying on such disputed and immaterial facts, the trial court erred in not holding as a matter of law that plaintiff's damages should be fixed at the highest price the subject stock reached within thirty days of plaintiff learning of the conversion.

The trial court also erred in awarding plaintiff attorney's fees under Counts I and II of plaintiff's amended complaint. It is well established that Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 requires that the trial court make specific findings as to the determination of the "merit" or "bad faith" of the nonprevailing party's action or defense to the action. In this case, the trial court made no findings as to merit or bad faith when awarding plaintiff's attorney's fees. Furthermore, the record is devoid of any other

basis to support the trial court's award of attorney's fees. Therefore, the trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees to the plaintiff.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, FINDING THAT A NINETY-DAY PERIOD WAS THE PROPER TIME FOR CALCULATING PLAINTIFF'S DAMAGES.

A. Utah Has Adopted the "New York Rule" to Fix Damages for the Conversion of and Wrongful Refusal to Transfer Stock.

Count I of plaintiff's amended complaint alleges that defendants Atlas and Check Rite failed to fulfill their statutory duty to effect a stock registration transfer requested by plaintiff on or about May 4, 1988. Count II of plaintiff's amended complaint alleges that the actions of Atlas and Check Rite tortiously interfered with her right to control and possess those shares, and thus constitute conversion. Although plaintiff asserts separate causes of action, courts generally treat the wrongful refusal to transfer stock as an act of conversion. F. Kristy and R. Appel, The Transfer of Stock, § 271 (5th Ed. 1975). Utah follows that general rule. See Cowan and Co. v. Atlas Stock Transfer Co., 695 P.2d 109, 112 (Utah 1984); Baglin v. Earl-Eagle Mining Co., 5 Utah 572, 184 P.2d 190, 194 (1919); Mundt v. Commercial National Bank of Ogden, 35 Utah 90, 99 P.2d 454, 456 (1909).

The key dispute between the parties is over the proper time for calculating plaintiff's damages for conversion and wrongful

refusal to transfer stock. As a general rule, the measure of damages for conversion is the fair market value of the converted goods at the time of conversion. See Murdock v. Blake, 26 Utah 2d 22, 484 P.2d 164 (1971); Lowe v. Rosenlof, 12 Utah 2d 190, 364 P.2d 418 (1961). However, most courts have adopted different rules for determining damages when the fair market value of the converted goods such as stocks, fluctuates widely. Approximately 10 states, including Utah, have adopted the "New York rule," whereby converted stock is valued at the highest market price of the stock between the time the customer has notice of the conversion and a reasonable time thereafter. This rule gives the stockholder a reasonable time within which to decide whether to go into the marketplace and replace the stock. The rule also gives the stockholder the option of claiming the stock's market value at the time of conversion, to afford him the basic remedy in a falling market. On the other hand, the New York rule also requires an injured party to mitigate his damages, by not permitting the party to sit idly by while the value of the converted stock rises. Annot., 21 A.L.R.3d 1286, 1322-23 (1970).

The Utah Supreme Court adopted the New York rule in Western Securities Co. v. Silver King Consolidated Mining Co., 57 Utah 88, 192 P. 664 (1920). In Western Securities, one Clark delivered more than 29,000 shares of stock in the defendant corporation to the corporation's officers, also party defendants, as collateral for five promissory notes. After Clark delivered the shares as

collateral, the defendants sold the shares for \$1.60 per share. Over the next four months, the value of the shares increased to more than \$2.00 per share. Plaintiff brought suit, claiming that the defendants had wrongfully converted his stock. Judgment was entered for the plaintiff. The Utah Supreme Court, in reversing and remanding the lower court's judgment, clearly recognized and adopted the New York rule:

The ordinary rule governing the measure of damages in cases where the pledge wrongfully converts the property pledged is the market value of the property pledged with interest from the time it was converted. If the pledged property consists of stocks or bonds of a fluctuating market price, then the measure of damages, under the New York rule, is the highest market price of such stocks or bonds within a reasonable time after the pledgor obtained notice of the sale of the stock or bonds which was illegally made. . . . As soon as the pledgor receives notice that a pledgee has converted his stocks or bonds, he may go into the market and replace them, or, if he chooses, he may rely on his damages. He must, however, act within a reasonable time, and cannot by his own will extend that time. . . . Utah is one of the jurisdictions wherein the New York rule has been adopted.

Western Securities, 192 P. at 672-3. See also, Lake v. Pinder, 13 Utah 2d 76, 368 P.2d 593, 594 (1962) (In an action for failure to deliver stock, court recognized that the aggrieved party is entitled to be paid "the highest market value of such stock within a reasonable time thereafter.")

The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. v. Talbott, 247 F.2d 771 (10th Cir. 1957), also recognized

that Utah adheres to the New York rule. In Nephi Processing Plant, the court reviewed whether the trial court had erred in instructing that the jury could award the highest price the converted good had been sold for between the time of the conversion and a reasonable time after plaintiffs obtained notice of the conversion. In sustaining the trial court's jury instruction, the Tenth Circuit noted:

The Utah courts have recognized that as a general rule the measure of damage for conversion of property is the value of the property at the time of the conversion, plus interest. It has been held, however, that the rule has no application where the converted chattels are of a kind which have a fluctuating market value. In such cases the measure of damages is the highest market price of the property within the reasonable time after the owner has notice of the conversion. The Utah Supreme Court has accepted this rule. Western Securities Co. v. Silver King Consolidated Mining Co., supra.

Id. at 774 (citations omitted).

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that Utah courts adhere to the New York rule. As a result, plaintiff was entitled only to recover the highest value her stock reached within a "reasonable time" of her learning of Atlas' refusal to transfer her shares.

**B. The Trial Court Erred in Ruling That a Ninety-day Period Was a "Reasonable Time" to Fix Damages Under the New York Rule.**

The determination of what is a "reasonable time" under the New York rule for determining the value of stock has been held to be a question of law to be determined by the trial court. See Mullin v. J.J. Quinlin & Co., 195 N.Y. 109, 87 N.E. 1078 (1909); Fulley v.

Wasserman, 319 Pa. 420, 179 A. 595 (1935). Utah courts also have recognized that a "reasonable time" may be determined as a matter of law. In Pacific Development Co. v. Stewart, 113 Utah 403, 195 P.2d 748 (1948), the court reversed a judgment in favor of the defendants in a lawful detainer action. One of the principal issues on appeal was whether the plaintiffs had permitted the defendants a "reasonable time" in which to make up overdue payments under a real estate contract. In reversing the trial court's judgment, the Utah Supreme Court held as a matter of law that 23 days' notice constituted a "reasonable time." In so ruling, the court stated, "Where the facts surrounding are undisputed, as they are in this case, this court may determine, as a matter of law, what is reasonable time." Pacific Development, 195 P.2d at 751.

The material facts surrounding the case at hand are also undisputed. On May 4, 1988, plaintiff was given notice of Atlas and Check Rite's conversion of and wrongful refusal to transfer Certificate No. 258 into plaintiff's name. Atlas and Check Rite continued to refuse to transfer and register the subject shares in accordance with plaintiff's instructions from May to August, 1988. During this time, the value of plaintiff's Check Rite stock fluctuated widely. Since the material facts surrounding this case were undisputed, the trial court could determine, as a matter of law, what was a "reasonable time." The trial court, however, erred in concluding that 90 days was a "reasonable time" in this case.

1. Thirty Days Rather Than Ninety Days Constituted a "Reasonable Time" to Fix Damages Under the New York Rule.

Although courts have not recognized a single length of time as the definitive standard for valuing converted stock under the New York rule, the overwhelming majority of courts have held that a period of 30 days or less constitutes a "reasonable time." Courts holding that one month constitutes a reasonable time within the New York rule include: Isonberg v. Haupt, 235 A.D. 123, 256 N.Y.S. 411 (1932); Hamel v. Western Union Telegraph Co., 251 N.Y. 559, 168 N.E. 427 (1931); O'Connor v. Graff, 186 A.D. 116, 173 N.Y.S. 730 (1919), aff'd., 230 N.Y. 552, 130 N.E. 890 (1920); Strickland v. Magoun, 119 A.D. 113, 104 N.Y.S. 425 (1907), aff'd., 190 N.Y. 545, 83 N.E. 1132 (1907); and Burhorn v. Lockwood, 71 A.D. 301, 75 N.Y.S. 828 (1902), appeal dismissed, 177 N.Y. 539, 69 N.E. 1121 (1903), reh'g denied, 177 N.Y. 554, 69 N.E. 1121 (1903).

On at least two occasions, courts have construed two and a half to three weeks to be a "reasonable time." See Gelb v. Zimet Bros., Inc., 34 Misc. 2d 401, 228 N.Y.S.2d 111 (1962), aff'd., 18 A.D.2d 967, 237 N.Y.S.2d 989 (1963); Rosenbaum v. Stiebel, 137 A.D. 912, 122 N.Y.S. 131 (1910).

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