1990

LeAnna Broadwater Robbins v. Old Republic
Surety, Northwestern National Insurance
Company of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Atlas Stock
Transfer, Check Rite International, Inc., Cardinal
Energy Corporation, Scott J. Fletcher : Brief of
Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff's third, fourth and fifth causes of action allege breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of an implied third-party beneficiary contract, and "bad faith refusal" on the part of the Bonding Companies, all causes of action sounding in contract. The undisputed evidence presented to the trial court established that plaintiff lacked any contractual privity with the Bonding Companies at all times pertinent to this action. This action arises out of the issuance of a lost instruments bond by Old Republic's predecessor in interest, Northwestern National, to defendant Scott Fletcher. The subject lost instruments bond specifically listed Mr. Fletcher as principal, Northwestern National as surety, and Cardinal Energy and

its present and future transfer agents as obligees under the bond. The Bonding Companies' obligations under the subject bond run solely to the principal and the obligees specifically enumerated in the bond. Plaintiff, as a third-party claimant, has no contractual privity with the Bonding Companies. As a result, the Bonding Companies had no duty to deal fairly and in good faith with plaintiff.

Plaintiff asserts that she has contractual privity with the Bonding Companies because she is a third-party beneficiary to the lost instruments bond. The undisputed evidence before the trial court was that, at best, plaintiff should be considered an incidental third-party beneficiary. The law of the State of Utah is clear that mere incidental third-party beneficiaries have no right to enforce contractual agreements to which they are not a party.

Plaintiff's assertion that she gained privity of contract due to the actions of the Bonding Companies is likewise unsupported in the facts and the law. There was no allegation within the plaintiff's amended complaint nor any evidence presented to the trial court which would support a finding that the Bonding Companies are estopped from denying that plaintiff is in privity of contract with them under the subject lost instruments bond. There is no evidence that the Bonding Companies ever owed any duty of good faith toward plaintiff, nor that the Bonding Companies ever assumed any duty of good faith and fair dealing toward plaintiff.

Absent any evidence that the Bonding Companies had or assumed a special relationship with plaintiff in reviewing the merits of her claim, plaintiff's claims of bad faith and unfair dealing fail as a matter of law. Therefore, the trial court's granting of partial summary judgment in favor of the Bonding Companies on Counts III, IV and V of plaintiff's complaint should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

PLAINTIFF IS NOT A THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY TO THE INDEMNITY BOND CONTRACT AND HAS NO BASIS FOR BRINGING A CONTRACT-BASED ACTION.

The lower court's ruling granting the Bonding Companies' motion for partial summary judgment on plaintiff's third, fourth, and fifth causes of action should be affirmed, if but for the sole reason that all three causes of action fail due to the lack of contractual privity between the Bonding Companies and plaintiff. Plaintiff attacks the lower court's ruling by baselessly alleging that the lower court's action was a "mere trade-off" for the court's granting of plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment on Counts I and II of her amended complaint. (Cross-Appellant's Brief, p. 11) Nevertheless, well-established principles of law clearly support the lower court's granting of partial summary judgment in favor of the Bonding Companies.

The Bonding Companies properly asserted in the court below that plaintiff is not a third-party beneficiary to the indemnity bond posted by Fletcher. The bond reads as follows:

Know all men by these presents, that Scott J. Fletcher as principal, and Northwestern National Insurance Company . . . as surety . . . are held and firmly bound unto Cardinal Energy Corporation and Atlas Stock Transfer and unto all such individuals, firms and corporations, as may now and/or hereafter be acting as transfer agents and/or registrars (emphasis added)

(See Addendum, Exhibit 1.)

The language of the subject lost instruments bond clearly and unambiguously enumerates all intended third-party beneficiaries: Cardinal Energy Corp. (now Check-Rite), Atlas Stock Transfer, and any other party "acting as transfer agent". (emphasis added) The intention of the parties to the bond is clear. The intended third-party beneficiaries to the Bonding Companies' contractual covenants are specifically identified and limited by the language of the bond. Plaintiff produced no evidence that the parties to the bonding agreement ever intended to directly benefit her or anyone similarly situated to her. The benefits of the bond's indemnity provision run directly to two parties: Atlas Stock Transfer Co. and Check-Rite.

The Utah Court of Appeals has stated as a general rule that the "rights of third-party beneficiaries are determined by the intentions of the parties to the subject contract." Hansen v. Green River Group, 748 P.2d 1102, 1104 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In Hansen, the plaintiff had a contract to sell motel to certain purchaser. The purchaser then contracted to sell the notice to a sub-purchaser. Upon the sub-purchaser's breach of its contract,

the plaintiff attempted to bring an action against the sub-purchaser based on a theory of third-party beneficiary. The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of the plaintiff's action against the sub-purchaser because of lack of privity by stating, "for a third-party beneficiary to have a right to enforce a right, the intention of the contracting parties to confer a separate and distinct benefit upon the third party must be clear." Id. at 1105 (quoting Rio Algom Corp. v. Jimco Ltd., 618 P.2d 497, 506 (Utah 1980)). See also, Mel Trimble Real Estate v. Fitzgerald, 626 P.2d 453 (Utah 1981).

Furthermore, the Utah Supreme Court has also adopted the same general rule pertaining to third-party beneficiaries. In Schwinghammer v. Alexander, 21 Utah 2d 418, P.2d 414 (Utah 1968), the builder of a home entered into an escrow agreement with the bank to insure the completion of the home's basement. When the basement went unfinished, the plaintiff homeowner attempted to claim third-party beneficiary rights under the escrow agreement. The Utah Supreme Court held that the plaintiff had no action against the bank under the escrow agreement. Quoting Corbin On Contracts, the Court used the following illustration which is analogous to the instant case:

Where A owes money to a creditor C or to several creditors, and B promises A to supply him with money necessary to pay such debts, no creditor can maintain suit against B on the promise . . . In such cases the performance promised by B does not itself discharge A's duty to C or in any other way affect the legal relations of C. It may, indeed, tend towards C's getting what A

owes him, since it supplies A with the money or material that will enable A to perform, but such a result requires the intervening voluntary action of A . . . in such cases, therefore, C is called an incidental beneficiary and is held to have no right.

Id. at 416. See also Tracy Collins Bank and Trust v. Dickamore, 652 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1982).

In the case at bar, plaintiff is in the same position as the homeowner in Schwinghammer. The purpose of the bond was to indemnify Check-Rite or Atlas against their liability for any future claims made by potential creditors demanding payment on the "lost" stock certificates. The bond in no way affects the legal relationship between plaintiff, Check-Rite and Atlas. In this case, plaintiff made a claim against Check-Rite and Atlas for their failure to register the stock certificates in her name. The fact that Check-Rite and Atlas are "protected" by the bond confers no contractual privity upon plaintiff. The subject bond merely indemnifies Check-Rite and Atlas for any liability they might incur when presented with the lost stock certificates by a bona fide purchaser. As a result, this court should find that plaintiff is merely an incidental beneficiary to the bonding contract and, therefore, has no contract-based rights against the Bonding Companies.

Plaintiff contends that she is a creditor third-party beneficiary to the bond contract. As support for this contention, she cites to a concurring opinion in Fleck v. National Property Management, Inc., 590 P.2d 1254 (Utah 1979). Proper analysis of

the concurring opinion in Fleck reveals that plaintiff cannot possibly be a creditor third-party beneficiary. The concurring opinion states, "it has been a long-standing rule that notwithstanding the theory of third-party beneficiaries, a third person who is not named in the bond cannot recover." Id. at 1256. Moreover, the concurring opinion, quoting from Corbin On Contracts, defines a creditor third-party beneficiary as follows:

If, on the other hand, the promisee's expressed intent is that some third party shall receive the performance in satisfaction and discharge of some actual or supposed duty or liability of the promisee, the third party is a creditor beneficiary.

Id. (Hall, J. concurring) (emphasis added). There is no doubt the parties to the bond in this case did not expressly identify plaintiff, as an intended creditor third-party beneficiary. The Bonding Companies' sole contractual obligation under the bond runs only to Atlas and Check-Rite.

Plaintiff mistakenly relies on the following bond language to support her contention that she is an intended creditor third-party beneficiary:

The surety agrees that its liability herein under shall be absolute, regardless of any liability of the Principal hereunder, whether by reason of any irregular or unauthorized execution of, or failure to execute this bond, or any absence or interest of the Principal and the subject matter hereof, or otherwise.

(See Addendum, Exhibit 1) The word "absolute" contained in the bond simply creates "absolute" liability for those intended beneficiaries expressly identified in the bond itself, i.e., Atlas

arid Check-Rite. Certainly, plaintiff cannot reasonably expect that the Bonding Companies' liability on the bond is "absolute" for any person alleging a claim against them. No insurer would create for itself such a large scope of liability as the plaintiff maintains. The only parties who have standing to make a claim under the bond are Atlas and Check-Rite.

The lower court correctly denied plaintiff's attempt to create contractual rights for herself by taking the bond's language out of context. The lower court rightly recognized plaintiff as nothing more than an incidental third-party beneficiary of the Bonding Companies' duties to Atlas and Check-Rite. There is nothing in the subject bond evidencing any intention on the part of the parties to the bond to assume any duty or obligation towards plaintiff. It is clear that Utah law does not accord an incidental third-party beneficiary any right to maintain an action sounding in contract. Recognizing this, the lower court appropriately granted the bonding companies' motion for partial summary judgment, dismissing plaintiff's third, fourth and fifth causes of action set forth in her amended complaint. Consequently, the trial court's granting of partial summary judgment should be affirmed.

POINT II.

**PLAINTIFF LACKS PRIVACY OF CONTRACT, AND AS SUCH
CANNOT MAINTAIN A CLAIM OF BAD FAITH AGAINST THE
BONDING COMPANIES.**

The lower court in granting the Bonding Companies' motion for partial summary judgment dismissed plaintiff's third and fifth

causes of action which alleged breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The lower court's dismissal of plaintiff's bad faith claim was proper due to plaintiff's lack of privity of contract with the Bonding Companies. Several recent Utah cases support the lower court's findings. In Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of a bad faith claim. The defendant made a counterclaim against his insurer alleging bad faith. The Court of Appeals stated:

In order to maintain an action under a contractual theory of insurer bad faith, the parties must be in privity of contract at the time of the alleged wrong.

Id. at 958.

The Utah Supreme Court in Beck v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 701 P.2d 795 (Utah 1985), also recognized that the duty of insurer good faith arises from a contractual relationship and in the absence of such a relationship, there can be no insurer bad faith. Since there is no contractual privity between the bonding companies and plaintiff, plaintiff has no cause of action against the bonding companies under her third and fifth causes of action for breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Most recently in Pixton v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co., 809 P.2d 746 (Utah App. 1991), the court reaffirmed that an insurer has no duty to deal fairly and in good faith with an aggrieved or injured party who has made claim against the company's insured. In Pixton, the plaintiff, a third-party claimant, brought suit against

State Farm alleging bad faith in the handling of her claim against a State Farm insured. Specifically, the plaintiff alleged that State Farm had not settled her claim promptly and fairly, had wrongly refused to give her the information she needed to evaluate the potential value of her claim, and had employed an adjuster who had a conflict of interest in handling her claim. In affirming the trial court's granting of summary judgment in favor of State Farm, the Utah Court of Appeals stated:

In sum, we are persuaded that there is no duty of good faith and fair dealing imposed upon an insurer running to a third-party claimant, such as Pixton, seeking to recover against the company's insured. This conclusion is consistent with the commentators and the great majority of courts in other jurisdictions that have been confronted with the issue. As one well-known commentator on insurance law noted, "[t]he duty to exercise due care or good faith is owed to the insured and not to a third party." 14 G. Couch, Couch on Insurance, § 51:136 (Rev. 2d ed. 1982).

Id. at 749-50.

Plaintiff erroneously argues that privity of contract may be created by the conduct of the Bonding Companies, and that such conduct should estop the Bonding Companies from denying that plaintiff is in privity. The conduct plaintiff speaks of is simply the Bonding Companies' willingness to examine the facts surrounding her claim made against Atlas and Check-Rite, the obligees under the bonding contract.

It is well established law that the doctrine of estoppel cannot be used to create a right in one party that could not have

possibly been obtained otherwise by that party. Heltzel v. Mecham Pontiac, 730 P.2d 235 (Ariz. 1986). Plaintiff was not in privity of contract and had no possible way of obtaining privity to the bonding contract. Plaintiff did not forego any right which might have otherwise existed by relying on the Bonding Companies' conduct. Further, the fact that the Bonding Companies inquired into the validity of plaintiff's claim against the obligees under the bond can in no way be construed to create contractual privity. Privity of contract either exists or it does not exist. It cannot be created by conduct.

Moreover, at the very most, the Bonding Companies' conduct simply led to a delay in determining the validity of plaintiff's claim. Delay or lapse of time alone cannot work an estoppel. Blumenthal v. Concrete Contractors Co. of Albuquerque, Inc., 692 P.2d 50 (N.M. Ct. App. 1984).

Equitable estoppel or estoppel by conduct is generally not favored by the courts and should not be used except in extreme circumstances where each element is clearly established. Kenneth D. Collins Agency v. Hagerott, 684 P.2d 487 (Mont. 1984); Mercer v. State, 739 P.2d 703 (Wash. App. 1987). Plaintiff's attempt to create privity of contract out of the conduct of the Bonding Companies is nothing more than an ill-fated attempt to manufacture a bad faith claim in hopes of increasing her damage claim. Recognizing this, the lower court rightly dismissed plaintiff's bad faith claims.

POINT III.

**THE BONDING COMPANIES OWED NO DUTY AND ASSUMED
NO DUTY OF CARE TO PLAINTIFF.**

Plaintiff asserts that Counts III and V of her amended complaint allege "tort action[s] for the IVAs' bad faith refusal or bad faith bargaining with her and Cross-Appellees Atlas and Check Rite." (Cross-Appellant's Brief, pp. 21-22) It should first be noted that neither Atlas nor Check-Rite have ever asserted a bad faith claim against the Bonding Companies. Secondly, plaintiff's claims of tort based claims of bad faith against the Bonding Companies ignore a long line of Utah cases which have consistently held that insurance bad faith is a contract-based action, not a tort-based action. Pixton, 809 P.2d at 748; Gagon v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co., 771 P.2d 325 (Utah 1988) (Zimmerman, J., concurring); Schettler, 768 P.2d at 958; Beck, 701 P.2d at 800.

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